

1 **Effects of semaglutide on gut microbiota, cognitive**  
2 **function and inflammation in obese mice**

3  
4 Jing Feng<sup>1,2</sup>, Zhenjie Teng<sup>3,4</sup>, Yu Yang<sup>1</sup>, Jingzhen Liu<sup>2</sup>, Shuchun Chen<sup>1,2</sup>

5  
6 <sup>1</sup> Department of Endocrinology, Hebei Medical University, Shijiazhuang, Hebei Province,  
7 People’ s Republic of China

8 <sup>2</sup> Department of Endocrinology, Hebei General Hospital, Shijiazhuang, Hebei Province, People  
9 ’ s Republic of China

10 <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurology, Hebei Medical University, Shijiazhuang, Hebei Province, People’ s  
11 Republic of China

12 <sup>4</sup> Department of Neurology, Hebei General Hospital, Shijiazhuang, Hebei Province, People’ s  
13 Republic of China;

14

15 Corresponding Author:

16 Shuchun Chen<sup>1</sup>

17 348 Heping West, Shijiazhuang, Hebei Province, 050051, People’ s Republic of China

18 Email address: chenshuc2014@163.com

19

20 **Abstract**

21 **Objective.** This study aims to investigate the effects of liraglutide on gut microbiota, cognitive  
22 function, and inflammation in obese mice.

23 **Method.** Twenty-four C57BL/6J male mice were randomly assigned to three groups: a normal-  
24 chow diet group (NCD, n = 8), high-fat diet group (HFD, n = 8), and HFD+semaglutide group  
25 (Sema, n =8). The mice were fed an HFD to establish an animal model of obesity, and then  
26 administered with semaglutide or saline for 12 weeks. Cognitive function was assessed using the  
27 Morris water maze test. Serum pro-inflammatory cytokines were measured. 16S rRNA gene  
28 sequencing technology was used to explore gut microbiota characteristics in obese mice.

29 **Result.** Obese mice showed significant cognitive impairment and inflammation. Semaglutide  
30 improved cognitive function and attenuated inflammation induced by an HFD diet. The  
31 abundance of gut microbiota was significantly changed in the HFD group, including decreased  
32 *Akkermansia*, *Muribaculaceae*, *Coriobacteriaceae*, *UCG\_002*, *Clostridia*, *UCG\_014*, and  
33 increased *Romboutsia*, *Dubosiella*, *Enterorhabdus*. Whereas semaglutide could dramatically  
34 reverse the relative abundance of these gut microbiota. Correlation analysis suggested that  
35 cognitive function was positively correlated with *Muribaculaceae* and *Clostridia* *UCG\_014*, and  
36 negatively associated with *Romboutsia* and *Dubosiella*. *Romboutsia* was positively correlated  
37 with TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$ . While *Clostridia* *UCG\_014* were negatively related to TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6  
38 and IL-1 $\beta$ .

Deleted: In this

Deleted: , we attempt

Deleted: semaglutide

Deleted: a

Deleted: ,

Deleted: the

Deleted: of gut microbiota

Deleted: a

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Deleted: were

Deleted:

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Deleted: were

50 **Conclusions.** For the first time, semaglutide displayed different regulatory effects on HFD-  
51 induced gut microbiota dysbiosis. Semaglutide could regulate the structure and composition of  
52 gut microbiota associated with cognitive function and inflammation. Thus, affecting gut  
53 microbiota might be a potential mechanism of semaglutide in attenuating cognitive function and  
54 inflammation.

## 55 Introduction

56 In China, the obesity prevalence has grown dramatically since the 1980s (Mu et al., 2021), and  
57 has reached alarming levels. It is predicted that one billion people globally, including one in five  
58 women and one in seven men, will be living with obesity by 2030 (World Obesity Federation,  
59 2022). Obesity has become a global pandemic and is a heavy medical, economic, and social  
60 challenge for patients and their families. Obesity is associated with hypertension, dyslipidemia,  
61 and insulin resistance, acting as a main contributor to cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.  
62 More recently, obesity has also been identified as a risk factor for the development of a wide  
63 range of neurological disorders (O'Brien et al., 2017). A recent study has shown that patients  
64 with severe obesity are more likely to have severe cognitive impairment. (Zhang et al., 2022).

65 Obese children and adolescents, as well as those with metabolic syndrome, display lower  
66 cognitive function, further distinguishing obesity-associated mild cognitive impairment from  
67 age-related dementia (Yau et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2014). Furthermore, strategies to reduce  
68 obesity in childhood could contribute to improvements in cognitive performance in midlife (Tait  
69 et al., 2022). Consistent with clinical data, high-fat diet feeding alters hippocampal structure and  
70 function in animal models (Jurdak et al., 2008; Kosari et al., 2012). For example, plasma  
71 membrane association of the insulin-sensitive glucose transporter, GLUT4, was reduced in the  
72 hippocampus of obese rats (Winocur et al., 2005). Besides, inflammation and insulin resistance  
73 provide insight into the mechanisms underlying obesity-induced cerebral changes (Maric et al.,  
74 2014; Niepoetter et al., 2021). There is great significance in exploring the risk factors and  
75 preventative measures of obesity-related cognitive impairments.

76 Over the past decade, many studies have shown that gut microbiota is critical for maintaining  
77 human physiology, metabolism, and immunity (Zhang et al., 2022). Microbial imbalances have  
78 been linked to various associated diseases, including obesity (Tait et al., 2022), diabetes (Zhou et  
79 al., 2022), NAFLD (Moreira et al., 2018), coronary heart disease (Liu et al., 2020) and  
80 psychiatric disorders (Nguyen et al., 2021). An increasing body of evidence has emphasized that  
81 obesity is associated with an altered composition of gut microbiota (Thingholm et al., 2019) and  
82 the gut microbial markers of obesity may be useful in improving psychological and metabolic  
83 health. A study has revealed that *Akkermansia muciniphila* improves cognitive function in aged  
84 mice by modulating inflammation-related pathways and reducing levels of the pro-inflammatory  
85 cytokine IL-6 (Zhu et al., 2023a). In a cross-sectional study, microbial community composition  
86 is associated with domain-specific and global measures of cognition (Meyer et al., 2022).  
87 Further, GLP-1 receptor agonists are known to affect the intestinal immune system and change  
88 the gut microbiota (Zhao et al., 2018, Charpentier et al., 2021). There is evidence that liraglutide  
89 could regulate the composition of the gut microbiota in HFD-fed mice, specifically increasing

Deleted: We found for

Deleted: that

Deleted: effect

Deleted: the

Deleted: <object>

Deleted: ).

Deleted:

Deleted: contributes to altered

Deleted:

99 the abundance of *Akkermansia* (Zhao et al., 2022). Although semaglutide has been reported to  
100 exert an anti-obesity effect in various studies, the effects on the gut microbiota in obese mice  
101 have not been fully elucidated. Whether semaglutide could help increase the beneficial gut  
102 microbiota of HFD-fed mice, which might have impacts on improving cognitive function and  
103 inflammation, is poorly understood.

104 To investigate the underlying mechanisms of semaglutide, we used 16S rDNA sequencing to  
105 analyze gut microbiota composition. Spearman's correlation analysis was performed to explore  
106 the relationship between inflammatory markers or cognitive function and gut microbiota  
107 composition.

## 108 Materials & Methods

### 109 Animals and experimental design

110 A total of 24 male specific-pathogen-free grade C57BL/6J mice (6-week-old) were obtained  
111 from Hebei In vivo Biotechnology Co., Ltd (Hebei, China) and acclimated for 1 week. Animal  
112 care was carried out according to established guidelines. The mice were housed in ventilated  
113 cages (485×200×200 mm; 4 mice per cage; temperature: 20-24°C; humidity: 55% ± 10%).

114 Thereafter, they were randomly divided into a normal-chow diet group (NCD, n = 8) or high-fat  
115 diet group (HFD, n = 16). The HFD group was administered an HFD (20% carbohydrate, 20%  
116 protein, and 60% fat) for 12 weeks to induce obesity in mice. The HFD group was further  
117 assigned into two groups according to a randomized block design: the HFD group (n = 8) and the  
118 Sema group (HFD + semaglutide, n = 8). The Sema group received a daily subcutaneous  
119 injection of semaglutide (Bagsværd, Novo Nordisk, Denmark, 30 nmol/kg/d), while the NCD  
120 and HFD groups were injected with equal volumes of saline for a further 12 weeks. The weight  
121 of all mice was measured after the intervention. The Morris water maze test assessed cognitive  
122 performance in each group (n = 8). Fecal and serum samples were collected for 16S rRNA  
123 sequencing (n = 6) and cytokines measurement (n = 6). Feces were collected in sterile  
124 cryopreservation tubes, and then labeled and stored in a -80°C refrigerator. At the end of the  
125 study, all mice were anesthetized with 1% sodium pentobarbital solution (50 mg/kg,  
126 intraperitoneal injection). This study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of Hebei  
127 General Hospital (No. 202332), and every effort was made to minimize animal suffering.

### 128 Measurement of plasma cytokines

129 Serum samples were collected from the retro-orbital sinus after the mice received an  
130 intraperitoneal injection of pentobarbital sodium. Blood was centrifuged at 3000× g for 10 min  
131 at 4 °C to obtain plasma for measurement of cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α,  
132 IL-6, and IL-1β. Cytokine concentrations are expressed in pg/mL.

### 133 Morris water maze test

134 The Morris water maze (MWM) test assessed spatial memory in all mice. The MWM test was  
135 conducted in a circular pool (diameter 120 cm, height 45 cm) filled with water at 24 to 26°C. A

Deleted: microbiota

Deleted: Spearman' s

Deleted: the

Deleted: to

Deleted: a

Deleted: randomised

Deleted: Cognitive

Deleted: ) was assessed using the Morris water maze test.

Deleted: ,

Deleted:

Deleted: tumour

Formatted: Font: Times

Deleted: was used to assess

151 visible escape platform (diameter 11 cm) was submerged approximately 1.5 cm under the water  
152 surface. In each acquisition trial, the mice started from one of the four quadrants by facing the  
153 wall of the tank. Each mouse was trained to reach the platform within 60 s for five consecutive  
154 days. If a mouse did not find the platform, it was gently guided to the platform and allowed to  
155 stay for 10 s. On the sixth day, the platform was removed, and all mice were subjected to probe  
156 trials. Mice were allowed to swim in the pool for 60 s. Data were collected using a computerized  
157 animal tracking system (Shanghai Jiliang Software Science & Technology Co., Ltd, Shanghai,  
158 China), which recorded the path length, swimming speed, the time and latency to reach the  
159 platform, and the number of platform crossings.

Deleted: On

### 161 Gut microbiota analysis

162 Fecal DNA was extracted using the OMEGA Soil DNA Kit (D5625-01) (Omega Bio-Tek,  
163 Norcross, GA, USA) and subjected to PCR amplification using specific primers targeting the V3  
164 and V4 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene. The specific forward primer was 341F 5'-  
165 CCTAYGGGRBGCASCAG-3', and the reverse primer was 806R 5'-  
166 GGACTACNNGGTATCTAAT-3'. Thermal cycling consisted of initial denaturation at 98°C  
167 for 1 min, 30 cycles of denaturation at 98°C for 10 s, annealing at 50°C for 30 s, and elongation  
168 at 72°C for 30 s. Finally, 72°C for 5 min.

Deleted:

169 The amplified PCR products were extracted by 2% agarose gel electrophoresis, and purified by  
170 Quant-iT PicoGreen dsDNA Assay Kit. The library was constructed using Illumina's TruSeq  
171 Nano DNA LT Library Prep Kit, Agilent Bioanalyzer 2100 and Promega QuantiFluor were  
172 utilized to assess library quality. Raw sequencing data were in FASTQ format. 250 bp paired-end  
173 reads were generated and preprocessed by cutadapt software. Clean sequence reads were  
174 imported into QIIME2 (*Bolyen et al., 2019*), and variant calling was carried out using DADA2  
175 (*Callahan et al., 2016*). The amplicon sequence variant (ASV) was clustered based on 100%  
176 similarity. Species annotation was performed using a pre-trained Naive Bayes classifier, aligned  
177 with the SILVA 138 reference database.

Deleted: ,

Deleted: from Illumina

Deleted: Amplicon

Deleted: pretrained

Deleted: , which was

178 To quantify the changes in gut microbiota after the intervention, we compared the ASV profiles  
179 of the three groups. The QIIME2 software was used to analyze alpha and beta diversity  
180 (<https://docs.qiime2.org>). Alpha-diversity indexes (ACE, Chao1, Shannon, and Simpson) were  
181 estimated. Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) based on unweighted UniFrac distances was  
182 then used to assess beta diversity (*Lozupone et al., 2007*), showing the similarity of the microbial  
183 community. Differential abundance analysis of gut microbiota was performed through the  
184 Kruskal-Wallis test. To identify the representative taxa of each group, linear discriminant  
185 analysis effect size (LEfSe) was used to detect different features among the three groups (*Segata*  
186 *et al., 2011*).  $LDA > 4$  and  $p < 0.05$  were set as cutoff values to define significantly different  
187 genera.

Deleted:

### 189 Statistical analysis

Baseline differences were evaluated using one-way ANOVA. Tukey post hoc test was used for comparisons between more than two groups. Data that did not satisfy the normal distribution were compared using non-parametric tests, and differences between groups were compared using Kruskal-Wallis. Repeated-measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to analyze spatial MWM data. Spearman's correlation analysis was performed to explore the relationship between inflammatory markers or cognitive function and gut microbiota composition. The SPSS software package 26.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY) and R, version 4.1.0 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) were used for the above analyses. LEfSe analysis used the non-parametric factorial Kruskal-Wallis rank-sum test (Kruskal et al., 1952) and the (unpaired) Wilcoxon rank-sum test (Wilcoxon et al., 1945; Mann et al., 1947) in combination with linear discriminant analysis (LDA) (Fisher et al., 1936) effect sizes to find robust differential species between groups. Figures were drawn using Graph Pad Prism 8.0 software. A value of  $p < 0.05$  was regarded as a significant difference.

## Results

### Semaglutide decreased body weight gain and ameliorated inflammatory markers

Inflammation is a prevalent process in obesity. At the end of the experiment, HFD induced an increase in body weight (Fig. 1A). Levels of inflammatory markers levels, including TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-1 $\beta$  were elevated in the HFD group compared to the NCD group (Figs. 1B-D). However, semaglutide treatment significantly reduced body weight and levels of inflammatory markers (all  $p < 0.05$ ).

### Semaglutide improved cognitive function

To explore the effects of semaglutide treatment on cognitive function, the MWM test was used to examine learning and memory function. During the 5-day learning phase, escape latencies were significantly shorter in the Sema group than in the HFD group (Fig. 2A). On the sixth day of the probe test period, the HFD group showed decreased time spent in the target quadrant (TSTQ) and the number of times crossing the platform area (NTCPA) compared with the NCD group (all  $p < 0.05$ ). In contrast, TSTQ and NTCPA were greater in the Sema group than in the HFD group (all  $p < 0.05$ ). There was no statistical difference between the three groups in total swimming distance (TSD) and average swimming speed (ASP) within 60 s (Fig. 2B-E).

### Alterations of gut microbiota diversity associated with semaglutide treatment

The microbiota was analyzed by 16S rRNA gene sequencing. The amplicon sequence variant (ASV) rank abundance curve was based on ASV serial number and relative abundance as axes to draw a hierarchical clustering curve. The curve was wide and smooth in the horizontal direction, indicating that the evenness and richness of the three groups were good (Fig. 3A). As shown in the Venn diagram, the total number of ASV was 2632, and the number of shared ASV was 211. In addition, 922, 544, and 654 ASV were unique to the NCD, HFD, and Sema groups, respectively (Fig. 3B). For the diversity index analysis, abundance-based coverage estimators

Deleted:

Deleted: was

Deleted:

Deleted: by

Deleted:

Formatted: Font: Times

(ACE) was significantly higher in the Sema group than in the HFD group ( $p < 0.05$ ). Compared with the NCD group, the Chao1, Shannon, and Simpson indices were also reduced in the HFD group ( $p < 0.05$ ), while there was no significant difference in the values between the Sema group and HFD groups (Fig. 4A-D). The Principal Coordinate Analysis (PCoA) based on unweighted UniFrac distances (Fig. 4E) showed that the bacterial composition was significantly different among the three groups (ANOSIM, unweighted UniFrac  $R = 0.816$ ,  $P = 0.001$ ). The PCoA plots also showed that the HFD and Sema groups were distinctly separated, indicating that the semaglutide treatment significantly affects intestinal flora diversity in obese mice.

Deleted: that of

Deleted:

Deleted: Principle

Deleted: has a significant effect on the diversity of

#### Alterations in gut microbiota composition of mice treated with Semaglutide

To determine the effects of semaglutide on the microbial community, we compared the microbial taxa at the phylum, order, family, and genus level among three groups (Fig. 5A-D).

At the phylum level, compared with the NCD group, the relative abundance of Firmicutes and Desulfobacterota was higher, while the relative abundance of Verrucomicrobiota and Proteobacteria was lower in the HFD group. Compared with the HFD group, the relative abundance of Firmicutes and Desulfobacterota was decreased, while the relative abundance of Verrucomicrobiota and Proteobacteria was increased in the Sema group (Fig. 5A).

At the class level, the relative abundance of Bacilli, Clostridia, and Desulfovibrionia was higher in the HFD group compared to the NCD group, while the relative abundance of Verrucomicrobiae and Gammaproteobacteria was lower in the HFD group. Compared with the HFD group, the relative abundance of Bacilli, Clostridia, and Desulfovibrionia was decreased while the relative abundance of Verrucomicrobiae and Gammaproteobacteria was increased in the Sema group (Fig. 5B).

At the family level, compared with the NCD group, the relative abundance of Erysipelotrichaceae, Lachnospiraceae, Desulfovibrionaceae and Peptostreptococcaceae was higher, while the relative abundance of Lactobacillaceae, Muribaculaceae and Akkermansiaceae was lower in the HFD group. Compared with the HFD group, the relative abundance of Erysipelotrichaceae, Lachnospiraceae, Desulfovibrionaceae and Peptostreptococcaceae were decreased while the relative abundance of Lactobacillaceae, Muribaculaceae and Akkermansiaceae was increased in the Sema group (Fig. 5C).

At the genus level, compared with the NCD group, the relative abundance of *Dubosiella*, *Romboutsia* and *Odoribacter* was higher, while the relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae*, *Lactobacillus*, *Akkermansia* was lower in the HFD group. Compared with the HFD group, the relative abundance of *Dubosiella*, *Romboutsia*, and *Odoribacter* was decreased, while the relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae*, *Lactobacillus*, and *Akkermansia* was increased in the Sema group (Fig. 5D).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: visually

Additionally, the linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe) analysis [ $\alpha=0.05$ , linear discriminant analysis (LDA) score  $> 4.0$ ] was applied to display the species composition and differences of the samples visually (Fig. 5E). The HFD group displayed a significant increase in the abundance of Firmicutes at the phylum level, Bacilli at the class level, Erysipelotrichales and

288 Peptostreptococcales\_Tissierellales at the order level, Erysipelotrichaceae,  
289 Peptostreptococcaceae and Eggerthellaceae at the family level, *Romboutsia*, *Dubosiella* and  
290 *Enterorhabdus* at the genus level. The Sema group was characterized by Actinobacteriota and  
291 Verrucomicrobiota phylum. Additionally, the Sema group was enriched in Coriobacteriia and  
292 Verrucomicrobiae at the class level, Coriobacteriales and Verrucomicrobiales at the order level,  
293 Atopobiaceae and Akkermansiaceae at the family level, and *Akkermansia* and  
294 *Coriobacteriaceae\_UCG\_002*, *Clostridia\_UCG\_014* at the genus level.

295  
296 **Relationship between gut microbiota composition and inflammatory markers**

297 As shown in Figure 6, *Enterorhabdus* ( $r=0.549$ ), *Romboutsia* ( $r=0.482$ ) and *Dubosiella* ( $r=0.501$ )  
298 were positively correlated with TNF $\alpha$ , while *Clostridia\_UCG\_014* ( $r=-0.552$ ) and  
299 *Muribaculaceae* ( $r=-0.495$ ) were negatively correlated with TNF $\alpha$  (all  $p < 0.05$ ). *Romboutsia*  
300 ( $r=0.568$ ) was positively correlated with IL-6, whereas *Clostridia\_UCG\_014* ( $r=-0.575$ ) and  
301 *Muribaculaceae* ( $r=-0.485$ ) were negatively correlated with IL-6 (all  $p < 0.05$ ). *Enterorhabdus*  
302 ( $r=0.656$ ,  $p < 0.01$ ) and *Romboutsia* ( $r=0.550$ ,  $p < 0.05$ ) were positively correlated with IL-1 $\beta$ ,  
303 whereas *Clostridia\_UCG\_014* ( $r=-0.735$ ,  $p < 0.01$ ) was negatively correlated with IL-1 $\beta$ .  
304 Interestingly, these negatively related genera were deficient in the intestine of mice in the HFD  
305 group but enriched in the Sema group.

306  
307 **Relationship between gut microbiota composition and cognitive function**

308 As shown in Figure 7, TSTQ and NTCPA were positively correlated with *Muribaculaceae*  
309 ( $r=0.537$ ,  $0.497$ , respectively; all  $p < 0.05$ ) and *Clostridia\_UCG\_014* ( $r=0.655$ ,  $0.595$ ,  
310 respectively; all  $p < 0.01$ ). TSTQ and NTCPA were negatively correlated with *Romboutsia* ( $r=-$   
311  $0.566$ ,  $-0.560$ , respectively; all  $p < 0.05$ ) and *Dubosiella* ( $r=-0.548$ ,  $-0.671$ , respectively; all  $p <$   
312  $0.05$ ). TSD was negatively correlated with *Enterorhabdus* ( $r=-0.492$ ;  $p < 0.05$ ). Interestingly,  
313 these positively related strains were enriched in the intestine of mice in the Sema group, but  
314 deficient in the HFD group.

315  
316 **Discussion**

317 Our study provides a novel perspective that semaglutide may play an important role in  
318 modulating gut microbiota composition against cognitive impairment and inflammation.  
319 GLP-1 is a gut-derived peptide produced by intestinal epithelial L-cells in response to fat and  
320 carbohydrate intake (Brown et al., 2021). The neuroprotective effects of GLP-1 are mediated by  
321 modulating learning and memory (Müller et al., 2019), decreasing inflammation and apoptosis  
322 (Diz-Chaves et al., 2024, During et al., 2003) and promoting the level of nerve growth factor  
323 (Perry et al., 2002). GLP-1 receptor agonists include exenatide, liraglutide, lixisenatide,  
324 dulaglutide, and semaglutide (Madsbad, 2016). Semaglutide is available for the treatment of  
325 overweight and obesity in people with or without type 2 diabetes (Kadowaki et al., 2022). Recent  
326 research suggests that semaglutide is effective in lowering body weight, improving glycemic  
327 control and decreasing cardiometabolic risk factors in people with type 2 diabetes. However, no

Deleted:

Deleted: genus

Deleted: ,

Deleted: were

Deleted: the composition of

Deleted: glycaemic



334 reports have been published on the effects of semaglutide on obesity-related gut microbiota. The  
 335 microbiota plays a key role in the host's digestion, metabolism, and behavior, but whether  
 336 semaglutide could help increase the beneficial gut microbiota of HFD-fed mice, which might  
 337 impact the improvement of cognitive function and inflammation, is poorly understood.  
 338 PCoA showed that the Sema group and the HFD group were clustered into two categories,  
 339 indicating that semaglutide could affect the intestinal flora diversity of mice. We also found  
 340 significant differences in the relative abundance of Firmicutes and Bacteroidota in the NCD and  
 341 HFD groups. The HFD can significantly increase the abundance of Firmicutes and decrease the  
 342 relative abundance of Bacteroidota, resulting in gut microbiota dysbiosis (Zhao et al., 2022).  
 343 After semaglutide intervention, the relative abundance of Firmicutes was dramatically reduced  
 344 and the proportion of Bacteroidota was not greatly augmented. To further evaluate the precise  
 345 changes in the gut microbiota, we analyzed the microbiota differences at the order, family, and  
 346 genus levels by comparing the histogram of species classification. Administration of HFD led to  
 347 a significant elevation in the relative abundance of *Romboutsia*, *Dubosiella*, *Enterorhabdus* and  
 348 decrease of *Akkermansia*, *Muribaculaceae*, *Coriobacteriaceae* UCG\_002,  
 349 *Clostridia* UCG\_014, whereas intervention of semaglutide could dramatically reverse the  
 350 relative abundance of these groups. Previous reports have also shown that HFD may decrease the  
 351 relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae* in animals and individuals (Ye et al., 2021).  
 352 The rapid increase in the level of *Akkermansia* was the most interesting finding in this study. We  
 353 observed that *Akkermansia* in the Sema group was nearly 166 times as high as in the HFD group,  
 354 showing the largest change in the proportion of the whole genus. *Akkermansia* first isolated by  
 355 Derrien et al. is a nonmotile and strictly anaerobic Gram-negative bacterium with about 1-4%  
 356 abundance in the gut (Derrien et al., 2008). *Akkermansia muciniphila* has been reported to have  
 357 many beneficial effects, including reducing fat mass gain and glycemia (Derrien et al., 2017,  
 358 Anhe et al., 2019), improving various metabolic abnormalities (Cani and Knauf, 2021) and  
 359 alleviating neurodegenerative processes (Ou et al., 2020). A recent study demonstrated that a  
 360 novel protein P9 secreted by *Akkermansia muciniphila* could promote GLP-1 secretion (Cani  
 361 and Knauf, 2021). Porras et al. reported a negative correlation between the NAFLD activity  
 362 score and the abundance of *Akkermansia* (Porras et al., 2019). Moreover, studies have suggested  
 363 that a link exists between *Akkermansia muciniphila* and cognitive performance, and the  
 364 underlying mechanism involves decreasing the level of pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin  
 365 (IL)-6 in both peripheral blood and the hippocampus (Zhu et al., 2023). We also found that  
 366 semaglutide could significantly enhance cognitive performance and increase *Akkermansia*  
 367 *muciniphila* levels in obese mice. However, there is no direct evidence to validate that  
 368 transplantation of the gut microbiota of mice after semaglutide intervention could also display  
 369 similar cognitive function. Furthermore, *Akkermansia* did not correlate significantly with  
 370 inflammatory markers or cognitive function. This may be due to small sample size. More studies  
 371 need to be further explored.  
 372 *Muribaculaceae* has been found to degrade a variety of complex carbohydrates (Lagkouvardos et  
 373 al., 2019) and is increased in response to a high-amylose maize-resistant starch diet (Barouei et

Deleted: behaviour

Deleted: microtiota

Deleted: have impacts on

Deleted: both

Deleted: level

Deleted: report has

Deleted: show significant correlations

Deleted:

Deleted:



383 *al.*, 2017). Members of this family could increase the production of succinate, acetate and  
384 propionate (Smith et al., 2019) and decrease fat absorption or deposition (du Preez et al., 2021)  
385 which has been linked to longevity in rodents (Sibai et al., 2020) or humans (Li et al., 2016). In  
386 this study, the prevalence of Muribaculaceae was markedly increased by semaglutide, as the  
387 increased relative abundance of Muribaculaceae was positively related to cognitive function.  
388 Being an obesity-related phylotype (Tu et al., 2020), Romboutsia was significantly associated  
389 with lipid profile and lipogenesis in the liver (Do et al., 2020). Previous research has found that a  
390 high-fat/high-sugar diet could enhance the abundance of harmful genera (Romboutsia,  
391 Clostridium) and reduce the abundance of beneficial probiotic genera (Bifidobacterium,  
392 Lachnospiraceae-NK4A136, Ileibacterium) (Wang et al., 2021). Our findings are consistent with  
393 the above results (Yin et al., 2023; Fu et al., 2021). Additionally, semaglutide decreased the  
394 abundance of Romboutsia, which was positively correlated with IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$ . IL-6 has been  
395 identified as a blood marker of cognitive decline and severity of cognitive impairment (Di  
396 Benedetto et al., 2017; Trapero and Cauli, 2014). Marsland et al. have also reported an inverse  
397 association between IL-6 and memory function in mid-life adults (Marsland et al., 2008).  
398 Previous studies have reflected significant negative correlations between obesity-related indexes  
399 and Dubosiella, suggesting that Dubosiella might inhibit obesity (Guo et al., 2021). However, in  
400 our study, the abundance of Dubosiella was increased in the HFD group. Another study has  
401 found that the Erysipelotrichaceae members Dubosiella and the Eggerthellaceae member  
402 Enterorhabdus were positively correlated with obesity-related parameters (He J et al., 2022).  
403 More research should be carried out in this field to assess this microorganism's behavioral  
404 patterns fully.  
405 There are some limitations to our study. First, the gut microbiomes were only profiled by 16S  
406 rRNA gene sequencing. Untargeted metabolomic analysis of serum and feces and fecal  
407 microbiota transplantation (FMT) intervention also needs further evaluation. Whether  
408 transplantation of the gut microbiota of mice after semaglutide intervention into HFD-fed mice  
409 could show improvement in cognitive function needs to be further investigated. Second, the  
410 semaglutide intervention was administered for only 12 weeks, which is relatively short. Third, no  
411 other behavioral tests were included to assess different cognitive domains. Therefore, more  
412 studies are warranted to address these issues.

413

## 414 Conclusions

415 In summary, we discovered that semaglutide significantly increased the relative abundance of  
416 Akkermansia, Muribaculaceae, Coriobacteriaceae UCG\_002, and Clostridia UCG\_014 at the  
417 genus level and decreased the relative abundance of Romboutsia, Dubosiella, and  
418 Enterorhabdus. This supports the idea that semaglutide can regulate the intestinal flora disorder  
419 caused by a high-fat diet. These beneficial bacteria may effectively improve cognitive function in  
420 obese mice by reducing IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$  production.

421

## 422 Acknowledgments

Deleted:

Deleted: found to be

Deleted: has

Deleted:

Deleted:

Deleted: on

Deleted: fully

Deleted: the

Deleted: of this microorganism

Deleted: ,

Deleted: need to be

Deleted: evaluated

Deleted:

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: , supporting

Deleted: has the ability to

Deleted: be an effective method to

Deleted: Acknowledgements

We thank the reviewers whose constructive evaluation and suggestions have helped us improve the quality of this manuscript.

Deleted: to

Deleted: in improving

#### Data Availability

The following information was supplied regarding data availability:

The raw data are available in the Supplemental Files.

#### References

Deleted: <object>

Anhê FF, Schertzer JD, Marette A. 2019. Bacteria to alleviate metabolic syndrome. *Nat Med* 25(7):1031-1033 DOI 10.1038/s41591-019-0516-1.

Barouei J, Bendiks Z, Martinic A, Mishchuk D, Heney D, Hsieh YH, Kieffer D, Zaragoza J, Martin R, Slupsky C, Marco ML. 2017. Microbiota, metabolome, and immune alterations in obese mice fed a high-fat diet containing type 2 resistant starch. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 61(11) DOI 10.1002/mnfr.201700184.

Bolyen E, Rideout JR, Dillon MR, Bokulich NA, Abnet CC, Al-Ghalith GA, Alexander H, Alm EJ, Arumugam M, Asnicar F, Bai Y, Bisanz JE, Bittinger K, Brejnrod A, Brislawn CJ, Brown CT, Callahan BJ, Caraballo-Rodríguez AM, Chase J, Cope EK, Da Silva R, Diener C, Dorrestein PC, Douglas GM, Durall DM, Duvallet C, Edwardson CF, Ernst M, Estaki M, Fouquier J, Gauglitz JM, Gibbons SM, Gibson DL, Gonzalez A, Gorlick K, Guo J, Hillmann B, Holmes S, Holste H, Huttenhower C, Huttley GA, Janssen S, Jarmusch AK, Jiang L, Kaehler BD, Kang KB, Keefe CR, Keim P, Kelley ST, Knights D, Koester I, Kosciulek T, Kreps J, Langille MGI, Lee J, Ley R, Liu YX, Loftfield E, Lozupone C, Maher M, Marotz C, Martin BD, McDonald D, McIver LJ, Melnik AV, Metcalf JL, Morgan SC, Morton JT, Naimey AT, Navas-Molina JA, Nothias F, Orchanian SB, Pearson T, Peoples SL, Petras D, Preuss ML, Priesse E, Rasmussen LB, Rivers A, Robeson MS, Rosenthal P, Segata N, Shaffer M, Shiffer A, Sinha R, Song SJ, Spear JR, Swafford AD, Thompson LR, Torres PJ, Trinh P, Tripathi A, Turnbaugh PJ, Ul-Hasan S, van der Hooft JJJ, Vargas F, Vázquez-Baeza Y, Vogtmann E, von Hippel M, Walters W, Wan Y, Wang M, Warren J, Weber KC, Williamson CHD, Willis AD, Xu ZZ, Zaneveld JR, Zhang Y, Zhu Q, Knight R, Caporaso JG. 2019. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. *Nat Biotechnol* 37:852-857 DOI 10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9.

Brown E, Heerspink H, Cuthbertson DJ, Wilding J. 2021. SGLT2 inhibitors and GLP-1 receptor agonists: established and emerging indications. *Lancet* 398(10296):262-276 DOI 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00536-5.

Cani PD, Knauf C. 2021. A newly identified protein from Akkermansia muciniphila stimulates GLP-1 secretion. *Cell Metab* 33(6):1073-1075 DOI 10.1016/j.cmet.2021.05.004.

483 **Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Rosen MJ, Han AW, Johnson AJ, Holmes SP. 2016.** DADA2:  
 484 High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nat Methods* **13**:581-583. DOI  
 485 [10.1038/nmeth.3869](https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869).

486 **Charpentier J, Briand F, Lelouvier B, Servant F, Azalbert V, Puel A, Christensen JE,**  
 487 **Waget A, Branchereau M, Garret C, Lluch J, Heymes C, Brousseau E, Burcelin R,**  
 488 **Guzylack L, Sulpice T, Grasset, E. 2021.** Liraglutide targets the gut microbiota and the  
 489 intestinal immune system to regulate insulin secretion. *Acta Diabetol* **58(7)**:881-897 DOI  
 490 [10.1007/s00592-020-01657-8](https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-020-01657-8).

491 **Derrien M, Belzer C, de Vos, WM. 2017.** Akkermansia muciniphila and its role in regulating  
 492 host functions. *Microb Pathog* **106**:171-181 DOI [10.1016/j.micpath.2016.02.005](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2016.02.005).

493 **Derrien M, Collado MC, Ben-Amor K, Salminen S, de Vos WM. 2008.** The Mucin degrader  
 494 Akkermansia muciniphila is an abundant resident of the human intestinal tract. *Appl Environ*  
 495 *Microbiol* **74(5)**:1646-1648 DOI [10.1128/AEM.01226-07](https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01226-07).

496 **Di Benedetto S, Müller L, Wenger E, Duzel S, Pawelec G. 2017.** Contribution of  
 497 neuroinflammation and immunity to brain aging and the mitigating effects of physical and  
 498 cognitive interventions. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* **75**:114-128 DOI  
 499 [10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.044](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.044).

500 **Diz-Chaves Y, Maastor Z, Spuch C, Lamas JA, Gonzalez-Matias LC, Mallo F. 2024.**  
 501 Glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor activation: anti-inflammatory effects in the brain. *Neural*  
 502 *Regen Res* **19(8)**:1671-1677 DOI [10.4103/1673-5374.389626](https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.389626).

503 **Do MH, Lee HB, Lee E, Park HY. 2020.** The Effects of Gelatinized Wheat Starch and High  
 504 Salt Diet on Gut Microbiota and Metabolic Disorder. *Nutrients* **12(2)** DOI  
 505 [10.3390/nu12020301](https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12020301).

506 **du Preez R, Magnusson M, Majzoub ME, Thomas T, Praeger C, Glasson C, Panchal SK,**  
 507 **Brown L. 2021.** Brown Seaweed Sargassum siliquosum as an Intervention for Diet-Induced  
 508 Obesity in Male Wistar Rats. *Nutrients* **13(6)** DOI [10.3390/nu13061754](https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13061754).

509 **During MJ, Cao L, Zuzga DS, Francis JS, Fitzsimons HL, Jiao X, Bland RJ, Klugmann M,**  
 510 **Banks WA, Drucker DJ, Haile CN. 2003.** Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor is involved in  
 511 learning and neuroprotection. *Nat Med* **9(9)**:1173-1179 DOI [10.1038/nm919](https://doi.org/10.1038/nm919).

512 **Fisher RA. 1936.** The use of multiple measurements in taxonomic problems. *Ann Eugenics*  
 513 **7**:179-188 DOI [10.1111/j.1469-1809.1936.tb02137.x](https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1809.1936.tb02137.x).

514 **Fu J, Wang Y, Tan S, Wang J. 2021.** Effects of Banana Resistant Starch on the Biochemical  
 515 Indexes and Intestinal Flora of Obese Rats Induced by a High-Fat Diet and Their Correlation  
 516 Analysis. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol* **9**:575724 DOI [10.3389/fbioe.2021.575724](https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2021.575724).

517 **Guo X, Cao X, Fang X, Guo A, Li E. 2021.** Inhibitory effects of fermented Ougan (Citrus  
 518 reticulata cv. Suavissima) juice on high-fat diet-induced obesity associated with white adipose  
 519 tissue browning and gut microbiota modulation in mice. *Food Funct* **12(19)**:9300-9314 DOI  
 520 [10.1039/d0fo03423a](https://doi.org/10.1039/d0fo03423a).

Formatted: Spanish

521 **He J, Le Q, Wei Y, Yang L, Cai B, Liu Y, Hong B. 2022.** Effect of piperine on the mitigation  
522 of obesity associated with gut microbiota alteration. *Curr. Res. Food Sci* **5**:1422-1432 DOI  
523 [10.1016/j.crfs.2022.08.018](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crfs.2022.08.018).

524 **Jurdak N, Lichtenstein AH, Kanarek RB. 2008.** Diet-induced obesity and spatial cognition in  
525 young male rats. *Nutr Neurosci* **11**(2):48-54 DOI [10.1179/147683008X301333](https://doi.org/10.1179/147683008X301333).

526 **Kadowaki T, Isendahl J, Khalid U, Lee SY, Nishida T, Ogawa W, Tobe K, Yamauchi T,  
527 Lim S. 2022.** Semaglutide once a week in adults with overweight or obesity, with or without  
528 type 2 diabetes in an east Asian population (STEP 6): a randomised, double-blind, double-  
529 dummy, placebo-controlled, phase 3a trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* **10**(3):193-206 DOI  
530 [10.1016/S2213-8587\(22\)00008-0](https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(22)00008-0).

531 **Kosari S, Badoer E, Nguyen JC, Killcross AS, Jenkins TA. 2012.** Effect of western and high  
532 fat diets on memory and cholinergic measures in the rat. *Behav Brain Res* **235**(1):98-103 DOI  
533 [10.1016/j.bbr.2012.07.017](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.07.017).

534 **Kruskal WH, Wallis WA. 1952.** Use of ranks in one-criterion variance analysis. *J Am Stat*  
535 *Assoc* **47**:583-621 DOI [10.2307/2280779](https://doi.org/10.2307/2280779).

536 **Lagkouvardos I, Lesker TR, Hitch T, Galvez E, Smit N, Neuhaus K, Wang J, Baines JF,  
537 Abt B, Stecher B, Overmann J, Strowig T, Clavel T. 2019.** Sequence and cultivation study  
538 of Muribaculaceae reveals novel species, host preference, and functional potential of this yet  
539 undescribed family. *Microbiome* **7**(1):28 DOI [10.1186/s40168-019-0637-2](https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-019-0637-2).

540 **Lozupone CA, Hamady M, Kelley ST, Knight R. 2007.** Quantitative and qualitative beta  
541 diversity measures lead to different insights into factors that structure microbial communities.  
542 *Appl Environ Microbiol* **73**:1576-1585 DOI [10.1128/AEM.01996-06](https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01996-06).

543 **Li M, Li G, Shang Q, Chen X, Liu W, Pi X, Zhu L, Yin Y, Yu G, Wang X. 2016.** In vitro  
544 fermentation of alginate and its derivatives by human gut microbiota. *Anaerobe* **39**:19-25 DOI  
545 [10.1016/j.anaerobe.2016.02.003](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2016.02.003).

546 **Liang J, Matheson BE, Kaye WH, Boutelle KN. 2014.** Neurocognitive correlates of obesity  
547 and obesity-related behaviors in children and adolescents. *Int J Obes (Lond)* **38**(4):494-506  
548 DOI [10.1038/ijo.2013.142](https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2013.142).

549 **Liu H, Zhuang J, Tang P, Lil J, Xiong X, Deng H. 2020.** The Role of the Gut Microbiota in  
550 Coronary Heart Disease. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* **22**(12):77 DOI [10.1007/s11883-020-00892-2](https://doi.org/10.1007/s11883-020-00892-2).

551 **Madsbad S. 2016.** Review of head-to-head comparisons of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor  
552 agonists. *Diabetes Obes Metab* **18**(4):317-332 DOI [10.1111/dom.12596](https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.12596).

553 **Mann HB, Whitney DR. 1947.** On a test of whether one of two random variables is  
554 stochastically larger than the other. *Ann Math Stat* **18**:50-60 DOI [10.1214/aoms/1177730491](https://doi.org/10.1214/aoms/1177730491).

555 **Maric T, Woodside B, Luheshi GN. 2014.** The effects of dietary saturated fat on basal  
556 hypothalamic neuroinflammation in rats. *Brain Behav Immun* **36**:35-45 DOI  
557 [10.1016/j.bbi.2013.09.011](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2013.09.011).

558 **Marsland AL, Gianaros PJ, Abramowitch SM, Manuck SB, Hariri AR. 2008.** Interleukin-6  
559 covaries inversely with hippocampal grey matter volume in middle-aged adults. *Biol*  
560 *Psychiatry* **64**(6):484-490 DOI [10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.04.016](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.04.016).

561 Meyer K, Lulla A, Debroy K, Shikany JM, Yaffe K, Meirelles O, Launer LJ. 2022.  
 562 Association of the Gut Microbiota With Cognitive Function in Midlife. *JAMA Netw Open*  
 563 5(2):e2143941 DOI 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.43941.

564 Moreira GV, Azevedo FF, Ribeiro LM, Santos A, Guadagnini D, Gamap P, Liberti EA,  
 565 Saad M, Carvalho C. 2018. Liraglutide modulates gut microbiota and reduces NAFLD in  
 566 obese mice. *J Nutr Biochem* 62:143-154 DOI 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2018.07.009.

567 Mu L, Liu J, Zhou G, Wu C, Chen B, Lu Y, Lu J, Yan X, Zhu Z, Nasir K, Spatz ES,  
 568 Krumholz HM, Zheng X. 2021. Obesity Prevalence and Risks Among Chinese Adults:  
 569 Findings From the China PEACE Million Persons Project, 2014-2018. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual*  
 570 *Outcomes* 14(6):e7292. DOI 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.120.007292.

571 Müller TD, Finan B, Bloom SR, D'alessio D, Drucker DJ, Flatt PR, Fritsche A, Gribble F,  
 572 Grill HJ, Habener JF, Holst JJ, Langhans W, Meier JJ, Nauck MA, Perez-Tilve D, Pocai  
 573 A, Reimann F, Sandoval DA, Schwartz TW, Seeley RJ, Stemmer K, Tang-Christensen  
 574 M, Woods SC, Dimarchi RD, Tschop MH. 2019. Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1). *Mol*  
 575 *Metab* 30:72-130 DOI 10.1016/j.molmet.2019.09.010.

576 Nguyen TT, Kosciolk T, Daly RE, Vazquez-Baeza Y, Swafford A, Knight R, Jeste DV.  
 577 2021. Gut microbiome in Schizophrenia: Altered functional pathways related to immune  
 578 modulation and atherosclerotic risk. *Brain Behav Immun* 91:245-256 DOI  
 579 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.10.003.

580 Niepoetter P, Butts-Wilmsmeyer C, Kaviani S, Viernow C, Ruholl H, Gopalan C. 2021.  
 581 Correlation between ketones and mental fatigue in high fat-induced obese and non-obese rats.  
 582 *Physiol Rep* 9(13): e14930 DOI 10.14814/phy2.14930.

583 O'brien PD, Hinder LM, Callaghan BC, Feldman EL. 2017. Neurological consequences of  
 584 obesity. *Lancet Neurol* 16(6):465-477 DOI 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30084-4.

585 Ou Z, Deng L, Lu Z, Wu F, Liu W, Huang D, Peng Y. 2020. Protective effects of  
 586 Akkermansia muciniphila on cognitive deficits and amyloid pathology in a mouse model of  
 587 Alzheimer's disease. *Nutr Diabetes* 10(1):12 DOI 10.1038/s41387-020-0115-8.

588 Perry T, Lahiri DK, Chen D, Zhou J, Shaw KT, Egan JM, Greig NH. 2002. A novel  
 589 neurotrophic property of glucagon-like peptide 1: a promoter of nerve growth factor-mediated  
 590 differentiation in PC12 cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 300(3):958-966 DOI  
 591 10.1124/jpet.300.3.958.

592 Porras D, Nistal E, Martinez-Florez S, Olcoz JL, Jover R, Jorquera F, Gonzalez-Gallego J,  
 593 Garcia-Mediavilla MV, Sanchez-Campos S. 2019. Functional Interactions between Gut  
 594 Microbiota Transplantation, Quercetin, and High-Fat Diet Determine Non-Alcoholic Fatty  
 595 Liver Disease Development in Germ-Free Mice. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 63(8):e1800930 DOI  
 596 10.1002/mnfr.201800930.

597 Segata N, Izard J, Waldron L, Gevers D, Miropolsky L, Garrett WS, Huttenhower C. 2011.  
 598 Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation. *Genome Biol.* 12(6):R60 DOI  
 599 10.1186/gb-2011-12-6-r60.

Formatted: Spanish

600 **Sibai M, Altuntas E, Yildirim B, Ozturk G, Yildirim S, Demircan T. 2020.** Microbiome and  
601 Longevity: High Abundance of Longevity-Linked Muribaculaceae in the Gut of the Long-  
602 Living Rodent *Spalax leucodon*. *OMICS* **24(10)**:592-601 DOI [10.1089/omi.2020.0116](https://doi.org/10.1089/omi.2020.0116).

603 **Smith BJ, Miller RA, Ericsson AC, Harrison DC, Strong R, Schmidt TM. 2019.** Changes in  
604 the gut microbiome and fermentation products concurrent with enhanced longevity in  
605 acarbose-treated mice. *BMC Microbiol* **19(1)**:130 DOI [10.1186/s12866-019-1494-7](https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-019-1494-7).

606 **Tait JL, Collyer TA, Gall SL, Magnussen CG, Venn AJ, Dwyer T, Fraser BJ, Moran C,**  
607 **Srikanth VK, Callisaya ML. 2022.** Longitudinal associations of childhood fitness and  
608 obesity profiles with midlife cognitive function: an Australian cohort study. *J Sci Med Sport*  
609 **25(8)**:667-672 DOI [10.1016/j.jsams.2022.05.009](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2022.05.009).

610 **Thingholm LB, Ruhlemann MC, Koch M, Fuqua B, Laucke G, Boehm R, Bang C,**  
611 **Franzosa EA, Hubenthal M, Rahnavard A, Frost F, Lloyd-Price J, Schirmer M, Lusi**  
612 **AJ, Vulpe CD, Lerch MM, Homuth G, Kacprowski T, Schmidt CO, Nothlings U,**  
613 **Karlsen TH, Lieb W, Laudes M, Franke A, Huttenhower C. 2019.** Obese Individuals with  
614 and without Type 2 Diabetes Show Different Gut Microbial Functional Capacity and  
615 Composition. *Cell Host Microbe* **26(2)**:252-264 DOI [10.1016/j.chom.2019.07.004](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2019.07.004).

616 **Trapero I, Cauli O. 2014.** Interleukin 6 and cognitive dysfunction. *Metab Brain Dis* **29(3)**:593-  
617 608 DOI [10.1007/s11011-014-9551-2](https://doi.org/10.1007/s11011-014-9551-2).

618 **Tu MY, Han KY, Chang GR, Lai GD, Chang KY, Chen CF, Lai JC, Lai CY, Chen HL,**  
619 **Chen CM. 2020.** Kefir Peptides Prevent Estrogen Deficiency-Induced Bone Loss and  
620 Modulate the Structure of the Gut Microbiota in Ovariectomized Mice. *Nutrients* **12(11)** DOI  
621 [10.3390/nu12113432](https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12113432).

622 **Wang Y, Ablimit N, Zhang Y, Li J, Wang X, Liu J, Miao T, Wu L, Wang H, Wang Z, Lou**  
623 **H, Jiang W. 2021.** Novel beta-mannanase/GLP-1 fusion peptide high effectively ameliorates  
624 obesity in a mouse model by modifying balance of gut microbiota. *Int J Biol Macromol*  
625 **191**:753-763 DOI [10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2021.09.150](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2021.09.150).

626 **Wilcoxon F. 1945.** Individual comparisons by ranking methods. *Biometrics* **1**:80-83 DOI  
627 [10.2307/3001968](https://doi.org/10.2307/3001968).

628 **Winocur G, Greenwood CE, Piroli GG, Grillo CA, Reznikov LR, Reagan LP, McEwen BS.**  
629 **2005.** Memory impairment in obese Zucker rats: an investigation of cognitive function in an  
630 animal model of insulin resistance and obesity. *Behav Neurosci* **119(5)**:1389-1395 DOI  
631 [10.1037/0735-7044.119.5.1389](https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.119.5.1389).

632 **World Obesity Federation. 2022.** [World obesity atlas 2022](https://www.worldobesity.org/resources/resource-library/world-obesity-atlas-2022). Available at  
633 <https://www.worldobesity.org/resources/resource-library/world-obesity-atlas-2022>.

634 **Yau PL, Castro MG, Tagani A, Tsui WH, Convit A. 2012.** Obesity and metabolic syndrome  
635 and functional and structural brain impairments in adolescence. *Pediatrics* **130(4)**:e856-64  
636 DOI [10.1542/peds.2012-0324](https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-0324).

637 **Ye J, Zhao Y, Chen X, Zhou H, Yang Y, Zhang X, Huang Y, Zhang N, Lui E, Xiao M.**  
638 **2021.** Pu-erh tea ameliorates obesity and modulates gut microbiota in high fat diet fed mice.  
639 *Food Res Int* **144**:110360 DOI [10.1016/j.foodres.2021.110360](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2021.110360).



640 **Yin H, Huang J, Guo X, Xia J, Hu M. 2023.** Romboutsia lituseburensis JCM1404  
641 supplementation ameliorated endothelial function via gut microbiota modulation and lipid  
642 metabolisms alterations in obese rats. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **370** DOI [10.1093/femsle/fnad016](https://doi.org/10.1093/femsle/fnad016).  
643 **Zhang F, Aschenbrenner D, Yoo JY, Zuot. 2022.** The gut mycobiome in health, disease, and  
644 clinical applications in association with the gut bacterial microbiome assembly. *Lancet*  
645 *Microbe* **3(12)**: e969-e983 DOI [10.1016/S2666-5247\(22\)00203-8](https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-5247(22)00203-8).  
646 **Zhang Y, Huang B, Yang W, Zhong S, Lai S, Zhao H, He J, Cai S, Lv S, Wang C, Jia Y.**  
647 **2022.** Correlations Between Endocrine Hormones and Cognitive Function in Patients with  
648 Obesity: a Cross-sectional Study. *Obes Surg* **32(7)**:2299-2308 DOI [10.1007/s11695-022-](https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-022-06076-y)  
649 [06076-y](https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-022-06076-y).  
650 **Zhao L, Chen Y, Xia F, Abudukerimu B, Zhang W, Guo Y, Wang N, Lu Y. 2018.** A  
651 Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist Lowers Weight by Modulating the Structure of  
652 Gut Microbiota. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* **9**:233 DOI [10.3389/fendo.2018.00233](https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00233).  
653 **Zhao L, Qiu Y, Zhang P, Wu X, Zhao Z, Deng X, Yang L, Wang D, Yuan G. 2022.** Gut  
654 microbiota mediates positive effects of liraglutide on dyslipidemia in mice fed a high-fat diet.  
655 *Front Nutr* **9**:1048693 DOI [10.3389/fnut.2022.1048693](https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2022.1048693).  
656 **Zhou Z, Sun B, Yu D, Zhu C. 2022.** Gut Microbiota: An Important Player in Type 2 Diabetes  
657 Mellitus. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* **12**:834485 DOI [10.3389/fcimb.2022.834485](https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2022.834485).  
658 **Zhu X, Shen J, Feng S, Huang C, Wang H, Huo F, Liu H. 2023.** Akkermansia muciniphila,  
659 which is enriched in the gut microbiota by metformin, improves cognitive function in aged  
660 mice by reducing the proinflammatory cytokine interleukin-6. *Microbiome* **11(1)**:120-137  
661 DOI [10.1186/s40168-023-01567-1](https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-023-01567-1).